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Thias brief & submitted on behalf of Plamtifts Texas State Corference of NAACP
Branches (“Texas NAACP”) and the Mexican Amerkan Legislative Caucus of the Texas House
of Representatives (“MALC”) (collectively, “Plamtit:™) in response to Defendants” Motion to
Dismuass (Doc. 52). Plamtitks seek to enjom the amplementation of SB 14, the photo
1dentification law enacted by Texas m 2011 for voting in-person on Election Day and during the
early voting period. SB 14 replaced the prior voter identification requirements the State had used
successtully for many years. Plamtifts allege that the new photo ID requirement has a
digcrmminatory result, m violation of Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act, 42 U.S.C. § 1973, was
enacted with a dizcruminatory purpose, m violation of Section 2 and the Fownteenth and Fifteenth
Amendments, and violates the constitutional right to vote, m violation of the Fourteenth
Amendment. Texas NAACP and MALC Complaint (Dkt. 2:13-¢v-193, Doc. 1) (“Compl.”).
Plamtrfts are non-profit orgamzations that have long played active roles i protectmg the rights
of Texas” mmority citizens m the democratic process. They named az Defendants the Texas
Secretary of State, Joln Steen, and the Durector of the Texas Department of Public Safety
(“DPS™), John McCraw (both sued m their official capacty) (collectwely, “"l"e}:as_:").1

The starting pomt for determination of Texas” motion is, of cowrse, the assumption of the
veracity of Plamtifts” well-pleaded factual allegations. Texas, however, barely pays lip service
to thus standard, and, mstead argues for disnmuszal by debatig pomnts never asserted by Plamtiffs,

ignormg key and long-standng precedent, and mwapplymg clear constitutional doctrine.

! Plaintiffs will respond to only Points I, IV, V, VI, and VIII of Texas” motion, as the remaining points are not
addressed to these Plamtitfs.
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At the outset, Texas” emphasis on “third-party standing™ in Pomnts IIT and IV raises
doubts as to whether Texas has evenread Plamtifts” Complamt. Plamtifls have not alleged
standimg on behalf of nywry to “third parties™ anywhere m thew Complamt. Rather, m
accordance with the settled law, they have plamly aszerted orgarmzational and representational
standing. The financial and organizational burdens umposed by SB 14 on Texas NAACP and
MALC, and the burdens nmposed on Texas NAACP’s members” exercise of the right to vote,
provide a solid basis for orgamzational standimg for both orgamizations m the w own right, and for
representational standng for Texas NAACP. Moreover, ag Texas 1z forced to acknow kedge, 1t 1=
long-estabhished precedent that private parties, mchiding orgamzations, may sue to enforce
Section 2 claims.

Contrary to Texas’ characterization m Pomt V of'its brief, Plamtits have properly pleaded
a Section 2 violation, over and above and m addition to “disparate nmpact.” Even a cirsory review
ofthe Complamt reveals the pleadmg of detailed facts establishing that SB 14 demies certam
voters the equal opportuumty “to participate m the political process and to elect representatves of
thewr choice” based on a “totality of the circuunstances,” as requured by the statutory text of
Section2. 42U.S.C. §1973(b). Agam, inexplicably, Texas fails to mention, let alone discuss, the
actual allegations of the Complamt.

Texag’ remainmng arguments may be given sunilar short shrift. Plamtrts have more than
adequately pleaded discrummatory purpose viewed through the prism of the kading Supreme
Court deciion on dizcrimimatory purpose, a case which Texag fails to cite, let alone dizcuss, m
its brief The allegations i the Complaint also support the conchizion that SB 14 specifically

burdens the ability and opportuniaty of Afiican Americans and Latmos to cast then ballots, and
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most certainly “abridges™ their right to vote within the meang of Section 2 and the Fourteenth
and Fifteenth Amendments. Furthenmore, a state’s ciweuumscribed authority to adopt certam
voting qualifications does not abrogate its obhlgation to comply with the Fouuteenth and Fifteenth
Amendments, which prolubit discrummatory treatment of mmorities with respect to the right to
vote. Fmally, Plamtiffs properly named as a defendant the Duector of the Texas Department of
Public Safety because he heads the agency that issues the only forms of state-1ssued
wdentrfication allowable vnder SB 14.

For all of thesze reasong, and as more fully explamed below, Plamtiff: respectfully request
that thus Cownt deny Texas™ motion to dismiss then Comp lamt.

BACKGROUND

L TEXAS SENATE BILL 14

Prior to the enactment of SB 14, Texas unplemented for many vears a voter identification
system that successtully protected the integrity of the electoral process and, at the same tune, did
not mterfere with the abality of Texas citizens (whatever them race or ethnicity) to participate
effectively 1 the political process by casting ballots on Election Day or m early voting.

Specttically, a regrtered voter in Texas was pernutted to cast a regular ballot m person
after presenting a voter registration certificate (imailed to the voter by election officials) at the
voter’s Election Day polling place or at an early voting site m the voter’s coumty. (Compl §9.)
Registered voters lacking a voter registration certificate were permited to cast a regular ballot zo
long as they executed an athidavit stating that they did not have then certificate, and presented
one of eight categories of docuumentation of identification The acceptable identification

imcluded: (1) a Texas wdentrfication card, current or expired, or a similar document from another
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state; (1) any other form of 1dentification containing a photograph that establishes a person’s
1dentity (such as an employee identification card), (1m) a buth certificate or other doctunent
confirmmg burth that 18 admissible m a cowrt of law and establishes a person’s identity, (1v)
United States citizenshup papers; (v) a United States passport; (vi) official mail addressed to the
person by name from a govermmental agency, (vi1) a copy of a current utility bill bank
statement, government check, paycheck, or other governiment document that shows the name and
address of the voter; or (vin) any other form of identsfication approved by the Secretary of
State’s office. (Compl §10.)

In 2011, without any evidence that the existing ID requirements were madequate, the
Texas Legizlature enacted SB 14, which significantly restricts the forms of acceptable voter
1dentification requured to vote m person on Election Day or during the early voting period.
Under SB 14, every voter, subject to three lnnited exceptions, must present one of six forms of
government-issuied photo identification m order to vote at the polls, regardless of whether she or
e presents a voter identification certificate. (Compl §12.) The forms of photo identification
required by SB 14 for m-person votimg are limited to:

a. a drver’s hicense or personal identification card issued by DPS that has
not expired or 1z not more than sty days expued,

b. alicense to carry a concealed handgun ssued by DPS that has not expired
or 1 not more than sty days expired;

a new form of identification created by SB 14, known ag an Election
Identification Certificate (“EIC”), wsued by DPS, that has not expired or 18
not more than sixty days expired;

o

d. aUntted States military identification card that contams the voter’s photo
and has not expired or 1z not more than sixty days expwed;

e. aUnted States citizenshup certificate that contams the voter’s photo; and
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£ aUnited States passport that has not expred or i not more than sixty days
expwed.

An EIC may be obtamed only at DPS offices, may be wsued only to persons who are
already registered to vote or who are registermg m conjunction w th applymg for an EIC, and
may be wsued only to persons who lack all of the other forims of photo 1dentrfication requured by
SB 14 for m-person votmg. An EIC may be obtamed only by presentmg documentary proof of
citizenship and one piece of “prumary identification,” two pieces of “secondary identification,” or
one piece of secondary identification and two pieces of “supportmg i1dentification™ Although
DPS does not charge a fee for an EIC, voters who lack the requured vnderlying identfication
muist bear any costs aszociated with obtammg those documents. (Compl § 15.)

A voter who does not have any of the s1< forms of photo 1dentification requured by SB 14,
and who does not satisfy one specific exemption for persons with certam quahfying dxabilities,
may complete a provisional ballot at the polls on Election Day or durmg early voting. However,
that ballot will be counted only if the voter subsequently travels to his or her county registrar
within s X days after the election and presents one of the six forms of photo 1dentification
required by SB 14. (Compl § 17.)

At the time of the enactment of SB 14, Texas was subject to the preclearance
requirements of Section 5 of the Votmg Rights Act, 42 U.S.C. § 1973(c¢), and accordmgly was
requured to submit for federal preclearance review (by the Attorney General or the United States

District Court for the District of Cohunbia) all changes m votmg practices and proceduwes.

! 8B 14 inchides two additional exemptions for persons who do not have acceptable ID due to either a religious

objection to being photographed or a natiral dizaster as declared by the President of the Umnited States or Texas
Governor. However, persons who meet these exenptions do not receive a regular ballot at the polls; instead, they
nmist alko cast a provisional ballot, which will only be cotnted ifthey travel to thewr coumnty registrar within six days
affer the election to sign an affidavit swearmg to suchreligious objection or natwal disaster. (Compl g 16.)
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(Compl §19.) On August 30, 2012, following a week-long trial, the District of Columbia
District Cownt, sitting as a three-judge cowrt, derued preclearance to SB 14 because Texas had
failed to demonstrate that the new photo ID requurement would not “lead to a retrogression m the
position of racialminorities with respect to them effective exercise of the electoral franchice.”
Texasv. Holder, 888 F. Supp. 2d 113, 115 (D.D.C. 2012) (quoting Beer v. United States, 425
U.S. 130, 141 (1976)), vacated and remanded, 133 S. Ct. 2886 (2013). The district court found
that SB 14 ““1g the most strmgent [voter ID law] m the country” and ““will alimost certamly have
[a] retrogresswe effect.” Id at 144. The cowt explamed that SB 14 “mposes strict, tnforgiving
burdens on the poor, and racial mmorities m Texas are disproportionately likely to lve m
poverty.” Id Inthis regard, the court found that 1t was “undigputed by Texas™ that “a substantial
subgroup of Texas voters, many of whom are Afirican American or Hispanic, lack [the] photo
ID” requared by SB 14, id. at 138, that the uncontested facts showed that “the buwrdens assocmted
with obtanung ID will weigh most heavily on the poor,” #., and that “undisputed U.S. Census
data” showed that “[1]n Texas . . . the poor are disproportionately racial mmorities.” 7d. at 140.
(Compl 22, 23.) This nuling was vacated, however, following the Supreme Cownt’s decision
m Shelby County v. Holder, 133 S. Ct. 2612 (2013), which found the geographic coverage
fornmula for Section 5 unconstitutional. Accordingly, the State of Texas 1¢ not presently requured
to comply with Section 5. (Compl § 24.)

Immediately follow mg the Supreme Cowrt’s decision m Shelby County, the State of
Texas anmounced that 1t would enforce the photo identification requirements of SB 14 m all

future elections m the State. (Compl 4 25.) This consolidated litigation followed.

6
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II. PLAINTIFFS

Plamtrdts Texas NAACP and MALC, who mtervened as defendants m the preceding
Section 5 htigation to oppose preclearance, are not-for-profit orgamizations active m the political
processes m Texas. Texas NAACP 12 a subsidiary of the National Aszociation for the
Advancement of Colored People, Inc., a national non-profit, non-partisan organization. Texas
NAACP was founded 1 1936, and 1s the oldest and one of the largest and most sgnificant
orgamzations promotimg and protecting the cwil rights of African Americans m Texas. It ¢
headquartered m Austin and has over sty branches across the State, as well as members m
almost every Texas county. (Compl §2.)

Texas NAACP s organizational objectves mclhide pursuung the elimination of all racial
dizermmmation m the democratic process, and seeking enforcement offederal laws and
constitutional provigions securmg voting rights. Texas NAACP s support of the Voting Rights
Act has been central to this mission, and Texas NAACP has participated i munerous lawsuits to
enforce the Voting Rights Act. Texas NAACP alzo engages m efforts to register African
American citizens to vote and to encourage African Americans to ttrn out to vote. SB 14 13
causing and will contue to cause Texas NAACP to divert a portion of its financial and other
orgamzational resources to educatimg Texas ciizens about the photo ID requrements of SB 14
and assistmg voters m castmg m-person ballots m comphance with SB 14, Ag a result, Texas
NAACP 1 linuted to devoting fewer resowwces to s other orgamzational activities, mchidmng
voter registration drives and get-out-the-vote efforts. (Compl §2.) Texas NAACP’s

membership mchides registered Texas voters who do not possess any of the forms of photo
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1dentification requured by SB 14 for voting m person on Election Day or m early voting,
(Compl §2.)

MALC 12 the nation’s oldest and largest Latino legislative caucus. MALC 1 a non-profit
orgamzation established to serve the members of the Texas House of Representatives m matters
of mterest to Texas™ Latmo commmuuty, inchidmg matters relatimg to the votmg rights of Latino
citizens residmng m Texas. MALC plays an actve role m both legislative and legal mitiatives
relating to votmg rights. Its forty members are registered voters m Texas and most are elected
from districts that are majorty Latmo m citizen voting age population and in registered voters.
Most MALC members are Latmo. SB 14 1 causmg and will contimue to cause MALC to dvert
a portion of = financial and other orgamizational resowrces to educatmng Texas citizens about the
photo ID requurements of SB 14, and assisting voters to cast m-person ballots in comphiance with
SB 14. Asaresult, MALC 1 linuted, and will contuie to be limited, to devoting fewer
resources to its other organizational activities. (Compl q3.)

ARGUMENT

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 8 “requires only a short and plam statement of the claim
showing that the pleader 1s entitled to relief m order to give the defendant famr notice of what the
clamm 1 and the grounds upon whach 1t rests.”™ Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 555
(2007) (cxtation and mternal quotation marks omutted). Wlale “[t]Jlreadbare recitals of'the
elements of a cauge of action, supported by mere conchirory statements™ will not suftice at the
pleading stage, Ashcroft v. Igbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009), a cowrt considermg a motion to
dizmes must “accept| ] all well-pleaded facts as tive and view[] those facts m the hglht most

favorable to the plamtdt™ 77ue v. Robles, 571 F.3d 412, 417 (5th Cir. 2009).
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Further, ““[a]t the pleading stage, general factual allegations of myjury resulting from the
defendant’s conduct may suffice, for on a motion to denuss we presume that general allegations
embrace thoge specific facts that are neceszary to support the claun.”” Lujan v. Defenders of
Wildlife, 504 U.S. 555, 560-61 (1992), see also Little v. KPMG LLP, 575 F.3d 533, 540 (5th Cu.
2009) (At the pleadmg stage, allegations of myjuuy are liberally construed. ™). It w m this context
which Texas’s motion must be assessed.

I PLAINTIFFS HAVE ADEQUATELY PLEADED STANDING

Al Overview

Plamtifls have standing, first, in ther own right and second, on behalfoftheir
orgamizational members.

As a general matter, “the mquury as to whether a particular plamtiff has standing has two
components, nvolving ‘both constitutional lmutations on federalk court puisdiction and
prudential hinutations on its exercise.”” Ass 12 of Cmity. Orgs. for Reform Now v. Fowler, 178 F.3d
350, 356 (5th Cir. 1999) (“ACORN") (quoting Warth v. Seldin, 422 U.S. 490, 498 (1975)).
Aurticle T standmg demands that the plamtitthas suffered an “mpuy m fact” that 1s “fanly

-aceable” to the actions ofthe defendant, and that the mpuy will likely be redressed by a
favorable decision. 7d. (quoting Benmett v. Spakr, 520 U.S. 154, 162 (1999)). Evalation ofany
prudential concerns, itrelevant, urvolves detenmmmg whether any “judicially self-nposed
lints on the exercise of federal pwsdiction,” which can be modified or abrogated by Congress,
may apply. 7d. (quotmg Bernmett, 520 U.S. at 162).

The Supreme Cowrt has set forth two clear bases for standing m cases brought by

orgamzations. The first 1s a “‘concrete and demonstrable mpuy to the organzation’s activities,”

9
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such as a “dram on the orgamzation’s resources” or “perceptibl[e] mpanment]” of'the
orgamzation’s abihty to fulfill s nussion Havens Realty Corp. v. Coleman, 455 U.S. 363,
378-79 (1982). The second & an assertion ofstandmg on behalf ofan orgaimzation’s members.
Hunt v. Washington State Apple Adver. Comm., 432 U.S.333,342-43 (1977). The Fifth Cucut
describes the former as “organizational” stand mg and the latter as “representational” standing.
ACORN, 178 F.3d at 356, 365. Both Texas NAACP and MALC have made suthicient
allegations of iy to then own actrvities to pass nmister inder Article T, and Texas NAACP
has made additional, equally suthicient, allegations as to mpuiries to its meimbers. Indeed, Texas
does not dispute that Plamtitls have properly alleged Article I standmg vnder Haverns Realty
Corp. and Hunt. Instead, the State asserts only that Plamtiffs fall short with regard to the
prudential hnutation on “thwrd party” standing. However, as discussed below, that doctrine does
not apply to thus case.

Finally, the standing question s cuurently before the Cowrt on amotion to disnuss. At
the plead mg stage, “general factual allegations of mpuy resulting from the defendant’s conduct
may suffice” to overcome a motion to dismmss based on lack ofstanding, because the court
presumes “that general allegations emmbrace those specific facts that are necessary to support the
chin” Lujan, 504 U.S. at 561, accord ACORN, 178 F.3d at 357 (spectfically distmguashing
between the standard applicable n the nwotion to disnuss stage and the sunmmary judgiment stage

: - L .3
on the question of orgamzational standmg).

? Inaddition, because only prospective relief is sought, if one plaintiff has standing, “there is no need to decide
whether the other [plaintiffs] also have standing ™ Crawford v. Marion Chty. Ekction Bd., 553 U.S. 181, 189 n.7
(2008).

10
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B. Plaintiffs Have Adequately Pleaded Article II1 “Organizational”
Standing

It 1s settled law that organmizations have Article 1T standng to sue to remedy an mpry to
the organization itself cauised by defendant’s conduct. In Warth v. Seldin, 422U .S. 490 (1975),
the Supreme Court explamed that there 18 “no question that an association may have standmng mn
its ownright to seek judicial relief from mpuy to teelfand to vindicate whatever rights and
mmnnunties the association itself may enjoy.” 7d at 511; see also Havens Realty Corp., 455U.S.
at 379 (far housmg orgarzation properly asserted orgamzational standing by allegmg that 1t ““has
had to devote significant resources to identity and counteract the detendant’s racally
discrmmnatory steermng practices™).

Ths rule fully applies to votmg rights Iitigation. See ACORN, 178 F.3d at 356 (on
sumimary udgiment, holding that the orgamzational p bhmtiffhad standing to challenge
Lousiana’s alleged N VRA violations based on assertion that “it has expended detiute resovrces
counteracting the effects of Lowsiana’s alleged tahwe to mnpleiment™ the NVRA, but findmg no
standing on other clhuns where facts showed expendihires not traceable to alleged NVRA
violation), Harkless v. Brunmer, 545 F.3d 445, 458-59 (6th Cx. 2008) (hold mg that district court
mnproperly dismussed conplamt and mnproperly deed leave to amend where the organizational
plantiftalleged (mn a proposed ammended commplamt) that it “would not have expended fimds on
voter regstration actrvities outside [public assistance | ofhices but for defendants’ . . . viohtions™ of’
the National Voter Registration Act (“NVRA™)), Florida State Conference of NAACP v.
Browning, 522 F.3d 1153, 1164-66 (11th Cu. 2008) (NAACP and other organizations had
organizational standing because they were forced to divert resowrces from registering voters and

election-day actrvities to addressmg problens experienced by registration applicants due to
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Floryla’s new registration procedures ), Crawford v. Marion Cnty. Election Bd. , 472 F.3d 949,
951 (7th Cu. 2007) (state political party had organizational standing because Indiana’s new voter
dentification bhw compelled “the party to devote resources to getting to the polls those ofits
supporters who would otherwse be dscouraged by the new law from bothermg to vote™), aff d
553 U.S. 181, 189 1.7 (2008), Leagute of United Latin American Citizens (LULAC) of Wisconsin,
Inc. v. Deninger, No. 12-C-0185, 2013 WL 5230795 (ED. Ws. Sept. 17, 2013) (affer discovery,
tindmg that expenditiwes to get-out-the-vote gave orgamizations Article 1T standmg under
Section 2 to challenge voter identification law).

Here, both Texas NAACP and MALC have adequately pleaded mpuy to thenr own
organmizational mterests. As set forth m the Complamnt, both organmizations have pleaded that the
right to vote 1s an essential aspect ofthenr orgamzational nussions. Texas NAACP’s
orgamzational objectves mehde pursumg the e limination of all racial dermmination m the
democratic process and seeking erforcement of federal laws and constitutional provisions
securing votmg rights. Its support ofthe Voting Rights Act has been central to this mission, and
Texas NAACP has participated m munerous lawsuits to enforce the Voting Rights Act. Texas
NAACP alo engages m efforts to register Afiican American citizens to vote and to encourage
African Americans to ttun out to vote. (Compl §3.) MALC 1 the nation’s oldest and largest
Latmo legislatwe caucus. MALC 12 a non-profit organization establiched to serve the members
of the Texas Houre of Representates m matters of mterest to Texas” Latino comnmunty,
mcludmg matters reltmg to the votig rights of Latmo ctizens residing m Texas. The large
majority of MALC members are Latinos. MALC plays an active role in both legislative and

legalmitiatives relatmg to votig rights. Its forty members are registered voters m Texas and
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most are elected from districts that are majority Latino m citizen voting age population and in
registered voters. (Compl §4.)

Both Texas NAACP and MALC ako pleaded with spectficty that SB 14 1z mjuring them
as orgamzations. SB 14 1z causing and will continue to cause Texas NAACP and MALC to
dwvert a portion of then financial and other orgamizational resowrces to educating Texas citizens
about the photo ID requirements of SB 14, and assisting voters m casting m-person ballots in
compliance with SB 14. Ag a result, both organmizations clhun that they are lmted, and will
contue to be limited, to devotmg fewer resownces to thew other organizational actwities,
mcludmg voter registration drives and get-out-the-vote efforts. (Compl 49 2-3.) These
allegations easily provide a basiz for organmizational standmg.

C. Texas NAACP Has Adequately Pleaded Article I11 “Representational”
Standing

Texas NAACP s allegations provide an additional bas s for standmg, because of nyjuy to
its members germane to its agzociationalmission Texas NAACP alleges, on mformation and
belief, that its membership mchides registered voters who do not possess any of the forms of
photo 1dentification required by SB 14 for voting m person on Election Day or during early
voting. (Compl §2.) An organization may assert standing on behalf of'its mmembers if: (1) the
members would have standing to sue m thew own right; (2) the mterests the orgamzation seeks
to protect are germane to the organization’s purpose; and (3) neither the climn asserted nor the
reheftrequested requures the participation m the lawsuit ofeach ofthe md rvdualimembers. Hirit,
432 U8, at 343, Clearly, a registered voter who has been or may be prohibited ffomvoting — or
whose ability to vote has been or will be burdened — by SB 14 would have standmg to sue m his or

her ownright. Further, Texas NAACP’s attenpt to protect the mterests ot such voters 18 germane
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to 1ts nssion of elimmating all racial discrumination m the democratic process and seeking
enforcement of federal laws and constiutional provixions securmg voting rights.

Lastly, because the relief requested 1z purely prospective and applicable to all voters
whose rights are so abridged or denied, the participation m the lawswt of each mdrvidual
member 1z not necessary m order for Texas NAACP to obtam the relief requested. See Veterans
for Common Sense v. Shinseki, 644 F.3d 845,862 n.16 (9th Cw. 2011) (*“When the alleged hamm
18 prospectrve, we have not requured that the organizational plamt iffs name names [ofmdrvidual
members| because every member faces a probability ofharm m the near and definite future.”
(quotmg Browning, 522 F.3d at 1160)), rev’d en banc on other grounds, 678 F.3d 1013 (9th
Cir. 2012); Sandusky Cntv. Democratic Party v. Blackwell, 387 F.3d 565, 574 (6th Cx. 2004)
(orgarization has standing to assert the nights of members who will be mpured, without naming
spectfic members, because “by ther nature, mrtakes [resultg m illegal vote denml] carmot be
specthically identified i advance.”). To allege that prospectrve harm 1s munedate “requires
only that the anticipated mpury occur withm some fixed period oftune m the fitture, not that it
happen 1 the colloqual sense ofsoon or precisely within a certam munber of days, weeks, or
months.” Browning, 522 F3d at 1161, see also Adarand Constructors, Inc. v. Pena, 515U.S.
200, 211-12 (1995). Here, the harmto Plamtifls” members 1s as munediate as the next tune
they attenmpt to vote.

D. Texas’ Assertion of Prudential “Third Party” Standing Concerns Is
Mistaken

Texas” argument that Plantifls lack standmg because they allegedly are raxmg the
chins of ““third parties™ 1s meaningless m the context ofthe clams actually asserted by

Plamtifls. As demonstrated above, 1t 1 well-established that orgamzations fully conply with
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standing requurerments so long as the challenged votmg restrictions mpure the orgamization’s
votmg-related resources or capabilities and/or are mpurmg the organization’s members (who are
not considered “third parties™). That the voting rights vio lation asserted by an orgamization
necessarily nwvolves the votmg rights of mdraduals does not thereby mphicate the prudential
doctrine of “thwd party” standing. See ACORN, 178 F.3d at 360-61 (organization of ow and
moderate mcome mdrviduals had standing to assert violations ofthe NVRA “thwd party™
standing not discussed):? see also Harkless, 545 F.3d at 458-59 (organization had standing to
sue for N VRA violations; “third party™ standing not discussed ), Browning, 522 F.3d at 1164-66
(NAACP and other organizations had standmg to challenge Florida voter regstration
procedures; “thard party” standmg not discussed), Crawford, 472 F.3d at 951 (polttical party had
standing to challenge Indiana’s photo ID law; “third party” standing not discussed).”

In light of thus overwhelmmg authority, t 1z not suwprismg that Texas fails to cite a smgle
cage brought under Section 2 of the Votmg Rights Act i wlich organizational or

representational standmng was derued an organization at the motion to dimums stage. There 18 no

* The Fifth Circuit did discuss prudential concerns in ACORN, but only with regard to whether Congress’ provision
i the NVRA that a “person who s aggrieved™ by a vaolation of that statute is pernmtted to sue to enjom the
violation 178 F.3d at 363. The counterpart m this case iz Texas’ clamm, discussed below, that onty the United
States, and not private parties, may sue to enforce Section 2; the counterpart 1z not “thard party™ standmg, wlach the
ACORN court did not dascuss,

> Warth v. Seldin is the only case upon which Texas relies that actually speaks to the issue of organizational
gtanding raized by the Complamt and, as dizcusszed above, it decizively supports denial of Texas” motion Texas alzo
relies on Kowalski v. Tesmer, 543 U.S. 125 (2004), and Duke Power Co. v. Caroling Environmental Study Group,
fne., 438 U.S. 539 (1978), neither of which iz relevant. Kowe Ik addressed the relationship between a group of
lawyers and “Tpothetical fitwre clients,””whosge claing they were asserting, The Cowt’s analyziz focuged onthe
issue of whether the attorneys had a sufficiently close relationshap with the persons who actually possesszed the right
to sue, anissue that does not mphicate the established law of organizational and representational standing, Neither
the Supreme Cowt nor the Fiffh Cacuit has cited Eowalski mn discussions of organrzational and representational
standing, Duke Power addressed taxpayer standing, another issue wwelated to this htigation
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such authority and no basis m law for this aspect of Texas’ motion. Accordimgly, 1t should be
derued.
II. PLAINTIFFS HAVE A PRIVATE RIGHT OF ACTION UNDER SECTION 2

In Pomt IV of itz brief, Texas appears to make two argiuments: (1) “The Votmg Rights
Act establishes a cause of action only for the Attorney General of the Untted States;” and (2)
Plamtifts “have no cause of action to assert thard-party clamms.” (Texas Br. 13, 16 and 12-16
generally.) As Texas 12 forced to concede, 1ts fust arguument 12 foreclosed by unambiguous,
existing precedent. And its second argument 18 merely a restatement of its same mastaken “third
party” standing argument in sheep’s ¢lothing ®

The Supreme Cowrt has consistently and repeatedly entertamned Section 2 suits filed by
private orgamzations. See, e.g., LULAC v. Perry, 548 U.S. 399 (2006), Johnson v. De Grandy,
512 U.58.997 (1994), Chisom v. Roemer, S01 U.S. 380 (1991), Thornburg v. Gingles, 478 U S.
30 (1986)." Moreover, as Texas concedes (Texas Br. 13 n.2), the Supreme Cowurt’s discussion
oftlus wsue mMorse v. Republican Party of Virginia, 517 U.S. 186 (1996), 18 directly at odds
with the State’s assertion. Aorse was not a Section 2 case, and mstead presented the question
ofwhether there 1s a prrvate cause ofaction under a different provision of the Votmg Rights

Act. However, m discussing that question, amajority ofthe Court expressed the view that

¢ Texas devotes the bulk of its argumert to convincing the Court that Plaintiffs canmot “use 42 U.S.C. § 1983 or the
Declaratory Judgiment Act to asgert third-party clanmns.™ (Texas Br. 14-16.) Plamtiffs wholeheartedly agree, but
nowhere m the Comnplaint do Plamntiffs mdicate that thesr cladine are brought nder Section 1983, and nowhere i the
Complamt do Plamtitts assert that the Declaratory Judginent Act gives them standing, The Declaratory Judginent
Act provides aremedy if where as here, Plamtiffz have standing to sue otherwise.

7 0ddly, although Texas says that “Supreme Cowrt decisions predating [Alexander v. Sandoval, 532 U.S. 275
(2001).] that recogmized a right of action in private indrviduals under Section 2 mayv no longer be good law in Light
of Akzander,” Texas fails to note LULAC v, Perry, the very pronmunent post-A&zander Section 2 cage heard by the
Supreme Cowrt that was brought by a private party agamst Texas itself

16
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Section 2 may be enforced by private plamtifts. 74 at 232 (Opmion of Justice Stevens
ammouncing Cowrt’s judgiment, jomed by Justice Gmsbwurg) (“Although §2 . . . provides no right
to sue on its face, the exastence ofthe prvate right ofaction under Section 2 . . . has been
clearky mtended by Congress simce 1965. [Citations onutted.] We, m tuun, have entertamed
cases brought by private litigants to enforce §2. (Internal quotation marks onutted; alterations
m original)); id. at 240 (Opuuon of Justice Breyer, jomed by Justices O’ Cormor and Souter)
(agreeing with Justice Stevens’s statement regarding private enforcement ofSection 2)°

It akko 1= mstructive to note that, m the Section 5 litigation concerning SB 14, Texas told
the District Cownt that Section 2 was an available remedy for private plamtitts (and thus, Section
5 was not necesgary to remedy violations of the Fifteenth Amendment), specifically noting that
their right to do so was separate from that of the United States:

If mmority plamtiffs are usmg section 2 to remedy violations of the Fifteenth

Amendment, then there 18 no need for preclearance; htigants can simply challenge

the disputed state law 1 a section 2 lawsuit and move for a prelimmary

mpnction If the district cowrt decides that the law 1z more likely than not to

violate the Fifteenth Amendment, then it will promptly emjom the enforcement of
that law.

¥ There are mmmerous examples within the Fiffth Circuit of Section 2 cases brought by organizations, wihout a hint
of any questzon whether organizations and private mdivaduals have a cause ofaction under Section 2. League of
United Latin American Citizens, Dist. 19 v. City of Boarne, 675 F.3d 433 (5th Cx. 2012); LULAC #4552 v. Roscoe
Indap. Sch. Dist., 123 F.3d 843 (5th Car. 1997) ; Camposv. City of Howston, 113 F.3d 544 (5th Cx. 1997);
NAACE v. Fordice, 105 F.3d 655 (Sth Cw. 1996), Abnzo v. City of Corpus Christi, 68 F.3d 944 (5th Ca. 1995),
Concerned Citizens for Equality v. MeDonald, 63 F.3d 413 (5th Cx. 1995), LULAC, Council No. 4434 v. Clements,
999 F.2d 831 (5th Car. 1993); Mugrofa Bar Azs'n v. Lee, 994 F.2d 1143 (5th Cir. 1993); Miss. State Chapter,
Operation PUSH v. Mabus, 932 F.2d 400 (5th Car. 1991), Westwego Citizens for Better Gov 't v. City of Westwego,
946 F.2d 1109 (5th Car. 1991), East Jefferson Coalition for Leadership & Dev. v. Parish of Jefferson, 926 F.2d 487
(5th Car. 1991); Citizens for @ Better Gratna v, City of Gretna, 834 F.2d 496 (5th Car. 1987) , LULAC, Council No.
4385 v. Midland i Sch. Dist., 829 F.2d 546 (5th Cx. 1987).
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(Texas v. Holder, Dkt. 1:12-¢v-00128-RMC-DST-RLW (D.D.C. Oct. 1, 2012), Texas Sum.
Jdgmt. Bit (Doc. No. 347), at 42 (emphasis added)). Texas cannot be heard to argue otherwise
now. See New Hampshire v. Maine, 532 U.S. 742 (2001) (doctrine of judicial estoppel).

For these reasons, this aspect of Texas's motion should be demmed.

III. THE COMPLAINT STATES A PRIMA FACIE CASE UNDER SECTION 2 OF
THE VOTING RIGHTS ACT

Texas, m Point V of its brief, makes several arguments directed to the prima facie
allegations of the Complamt, but those arguuments are either wrong as a matter of law, or wrong
because Texas hag distorted and/or ignored the allegations m the Comphint, or both

Al The Complaint States a Prima Facie Case of Denial and Abridge ment of the
Right to Vote in Violation of the Section 2 Results Standard

In 1982, Congress amended the key provisions of Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act to
add what 1z known as the “results test.” The statute’s original language adopted m 1965
prolubited the mposition or application of votmg qualifications or prerequusites to voting “to
deny or abridge the night of any citizen of the United States to vote on account of race or color.”
The 1982 Amendiments expanded that prolubition to mchide votmg qualifications or
prerequicites to votmg that are imposed or applhied “m a manmer which results in a denal or
abridgement of the right of any citizen of the United States to vote onaccount of race or color, or
[membership m a language mmority group].” (Emphasis added.) Thr change, together with the
addition of Section 2(b) (fiwther explaming the results test) and the accompanying legislative
hastory, “mald]e clear that a violation could be proved by showing discrimmatory effect alone

and to establich as the relevant legal standard the ‘results test.”” Thormiburg, 478 U.S. at 35-36.
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As amended, Section 2(b) provides that a violation 1 established if ““based on the totality
of crcumstances,” plamtrts show that “the political processes leading to nommation or election”
are “not equally open to participation” for members of rackl, ethnic, or language minority
groups. 42 U.S.C. §1973(b). For example, the Frfth Cwcuit has found a violation of the Section
2 regults standard nwolving a limitation on voter access to the ballot. Operation PUSH, 932 F.2d
400 (5th Cir. 1991) (voter registration restrictions). The overarching question 1z whether the
challenged law or practice derues minority voters “‘an equalmeasure of political and electoral
opportunity.” De Grandy, 512 U.S. at 1013.

The Senate Repoit that accompanied the 1982 VRA Amendments 1dentified nie non-
exclusive factors as typically bemg relevant to the “totality of the cmcirumstances™ analyris.
Commonly known as the “Senate factors,” these were derived dwectly fiom federal court
decizions mvolving constitutional challenges to voting practices that had been alleged to be
racially decrimmatory. See S. REP. No. 97-417, 97th Cong,., 2d Sess., at 28-29 (1982) (**1982
Senate Report™).” There i no requirement that all Senate factors be proven in a particular case to
establish Section 2 hability. /d. at 29 (“The cases demonstrate, and the commitee mtends that
there & no requurement that any particular munber of factors be proved, or that a majority of

them pomnt one way or the other.”), see also Thormburg, 478 U.S. at 45 (notmg the st 1z “nether

? The Senate factors are: (1) the extent of any history of official voting discriniation; (2) the extent to which voting
1 racially polarized; (3) the extent to wluch the state or political subdiviszon has used votmg practices or procedures
that 1may enhance the opportumty for digermmmation against the nunordy group; (4) whether mnorities have been
demded access to any candidate slating process; (5) the extent to which members of the numority group bear the
effects of discrmmnation m such areag ag education, emmployment, and healkth, which hinder thes abality to participate
effectively i the political process; (6) whether political canpaigng have been characterized by overt or subtle racial
appeals; (7) the extent to which members of the nunority group have been elected to public otfice m the jurizdiction;
(8) whether there is a sigmificant lack ofresponsiveness on the part of elected officials to the particularized needs of
the meinbers of the munority group: and (9) whether the policy underbving the use of such voting law is temmwons. f7.

19
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comprehensive nor exchusive™), 7d. (“[TThe Comumittee determmed that the question whether the
political processes are equally open depends upon a searching practical evaluation of the past and
pregent reality, and on a functional view of the political process.” (quoting 1982 Senate Report,
30 & n120) (internal citations and quotation marks omatted)). The ultunate 1ssue under the
“totality of the circumstances” standard therefore 18 whether the challenged votmg practice
finctions 1 a racially dizcrinunatory manner, and the Senate factors identify the typical lines of
relevant evidence but are not an exchisive hist.

Plamtit:” Comp lamt presents a zet of well-pleaded facts, which at this stage ofthe case
nust be accepted as true and, when read m thew entwety, establish a prima facie violation of the
Section 2 results standard. The allegations mchude the assertion that, for several reasong, SB 14
has a digparate impact on minority citizens but, contrary to what Texas clains, the Complaint
does not stop at disparate mpact and mehides other allegations relevant to a Section 2 results
violation Tk, Texas” argument that the Section 2 results standard 1 not viohted zolely by a
showmng of disparate impact 1s not relevant to what Plamntiffs have alleged, and will seek to
prove, m thi cage.

At the outset, the Complaint alleges specific factual reasons why SB 14 bears more
heavily upon Texas’ racial and language mmonty citizens than upon other members of the
electorate:

1. Hispanic and African American citizens are less hikely than white citizens
to possess the photo identification required by SB 14 (Compl ] 39-41),

-2

obtamimg the photo 1dentification requured by SB 14 mvokes multiple
practical burdens, mcludmg the wnreimburzed monetary costs requured to
secure the qualitymg “primary” and “secondary™ identifymg documents,
and the mpedunents related to the tue, distance and loss of work
required to travel to the motor velucle facihties, which are the exclusive

20
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state agency that proviles nominally “fiee” “voter identification” cards
(Compl q§ 41-45); and

3. Higpame and African American citizens m Texas are disproportionate by
poorer than white citizens, mchidmg but not limmted to having less access
to motor velicles, which hinders them mn participating equally m the
political process generally, ag well az more gpectfically m overcommg the

practical burdens ivolved in obtammg wdentification that satisfies SB 14.
(Compl. 97 30-38.)

These factual allegations, when read together, show that SB 14 will have a differential
negative effect upon political participation by racial and language mimority citizens of Texas,
which 12 the logical starting pomt for a Section 2 results clann. “It . . . was appropriate for the
court to cong ider evidence of statewide [voter registration] disparnity to determine if Mississipp1’s
procedures violated § 2. Operation PUSH, 932 F.2d at 413. Inaddition to this dizparate
mpact, however, the Comp lamt sets forth munerous additional well-pleaded allegations of
relevant facts which, when considered m thewr totality, make it more likely than not that SB 14
will fimction with a bias agamst racial and language mimortty citizens.

In particular, paragraphs 49 and 50 of the Comp hint detail Texas” long history of de jure
voting dizcrmmation, mchidmg the use of all-whate prunaries and poll taxes (the latter
postdating the 1965 passage of the Votmg Rights Act). Paragraph 51 ofthe Complamt detaik a
record of adjudicated voting rights violations extending to the present day, mcluding judicial
fmdings of mtentional racial voting dwermmmation during the very legislatve session during
which SB 14 was adopted. This backdrop of racial voting dscrimmation 1¢ strong curcumstantial
evidence that SB 14 fimctions m a racially dizcruminatory manner that 1¢ qualitatively distinet

from a caze mwolvmg meidental statistical artifacts. The drtmction i finther renforced by



Case 2:13-cv-00193 Document 88 Filed in TXSD on 11/22/13 Page 29 of 39

Paragraph 71 of the Complaint, which describes the derogatory, racially-charged campaign that
accompanited the passage of SB 14.10

Paragraphs 69 through 77 of the Complaint allege that the justification gwen for SB 14
by s supporters were termous, if not contrived or pretextual. Thr 1 not to suggest that Texas
has no mterest m protecting the mtegrity of its elections via some form of voter identrfication;,
that 1z not m dispute here. The relevant factual allegations m the Complamt are that the
wforgvmg and dracoruan photo ID requirements added by SB 14 — the most restrictive such law
m the country at the tune of it adoption — are not reasonably related to the justifications that
were offered for them, and are therefore suspect.

Paragraphs 30 through 48 of the Complamt docutunent specific socioeconomic digparities
between Texas’ Latino and Afiican American populations and the state’s white population,
traceable at least m part to a lustory of official d erimination m education and employment,
which hinder the ability of those groups to participate equally m the political process.11
For all of these reazons, Texas” motion to dismuss fimdamentally mischaracterizes Plamtitts’
Complamt. (Texas Br. 21-26.) Nowhere m 1tz brief does Texas acknowledge, let alone dcuss,

these munerous factual allegations relevant to the totality of the cicumstances. 12 The

" See qlvo Paragraphs 38 through 63, which describe the wnusual legislative procedures that were used to pass SB
14 over the objection of nearly all mmority legashators; paragraphs 37, 65 and 66, wlnch also detail the Legislature’s
perfimctory dismissal of the specific concerns that the proposed photo ID law would be racially discrmmmatory.

" paragraph 53 ofthe Complaint alleges that there is a history ofracially polarized voting in Texas. This Senate
factor typically plays a kev role invote dihition challenges to redistrictig plang and at-large election systeins.
While not neceszary for liability in vote denial challenges, thiz Cowrt could take notice that any denial or
abridgeiment canzed by SB 14 ofthe voting rights of mdividual racial and language nunority citizens will dimimish
the pohitical voice and effectiveness of racial and langnage nmority groups generally if voting s racially polarized.

2 Accordingly, there is no reason for Plaintiffs to discuss the cases cited by Texas that supposedly support their

proposition that disparate nnpact alone iz msutficient to support a finding ofa denial or abridgement ofthe right to
vote onaccount of race or color.

k)
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Complamt 1z more than adequate to state a Section 2 results claim against SB 14 under the
govermng totalty of the creumstances standard.

B. SB 14 Is Not Exempt From Federal Racial Discrimination Challe nges

SB 14 1¢ a “prerequugite” to voting that will “deny”™ and “abridge™ the right to vote within
the plamn meamngs of those terms as used m Section 2. There & no textual support for Texas’
argument that a racially dizcrmmmatory requurement to present photo identification at the pollmg
place may not be challenged as a “demual” or “abridgement™ of the right to vote witlun the
meaning of Section 2 or the Constitution. (Texas Br. 17, 18-20.) “The [Fifteenth| Amendment
nullifies soplusticated ag well ag sunple-mmded modes of discrmmnation It hats onerous
procedural requmrements which effectively handicap exerc re of the franchise by the colored race
although the abstract night to vote may remain wwestricted as to race.” Lane v. Wilson, 307 U.S.
268, 275 (1939). Nor does any provigion of the Votmg Rights Act, which enforces the
Fourteenth and Fifteenth Amendments, exempt SB 14 from bemg treated as a “votmg
qualification or prerequusite to voting or standard, practice, or procedwre.” 42 U.S.C. § 1973(a).

At the very kast, SB 14 fimctions as a “prerequirite to voting™ that “den[ies]” the right to
vote witlun the meanmg of Section 2 when an eligible registered voter i prevented from casting
a ballot m person that will be counted, solely because she or he does not present the qualifymg
1dentification specified by the statute. SB 14 also “abridge[s]” the right to vote, at the very least,
when eligible citizens are deterred from registermg or votmg because of financial or practical
mmpedunents to obtammg the requured identification. Thus, if the Court finds, under the totality

of the crcumstances, that SB 14 leads to such denial or abridgement ““on accoumt of race or
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color, or [membership m a language minority group],” then a viohtion of the Section 2 results
test has been shown

Texasg makes the misplaced arguument that voters who are “capable” of complying with
SB 14, “but choose not to do so because they would rather spend their limited time and resources
on other endeavors,” have not had their right to vote denied or abridged witlhun the meanmg of
Section 2. (Texas Br. 19.) This rehashes the “voter apatly” defense to minority vote dilution
claims, which consistently has been rejected by courts within and outside this circuit.” See U.S.
v. Marengo Cnty., 731 F.2d 1546, 1568-69 (11th Cu. 1984), Kirkseyv v. Bd. of Supervisors, 54
F.2d 139, 145, 150 (5th Cu. 1977) (enbanc), cert. denied, 434 U.S. 968 (1977), Majorv. Treen,
574 F. Supp. 325,351 n 31 (ED. La. 1983) (tlree-judge cowrt). Plamntff: respectfully wrge the
Court to keep this “se f-disenfranchizement™ arguument m mind as the case proceeds, however,
because Texas 12 concedmg that SB 14 may force ehigible citizens to choose between votmg and
other uses of their “limited time and resources.”"

Further, Texas’ reliance upon Crawford 1z entwely mustaken when 1t comes to racial
digerimunation clamms. (Texas Br. 19-20.) Crawford concerned a facial challenge to an Indiana
photo 1dentification law that was alleged to be an excessive burden upon the fimdamental riglt to
vote under the Fourteenth Amendment. The Supreme Cownt Leld that the Indiana law, wliuch

was less restrictive than SB 14, did not impose an excegsive burden on its face under Burdick v.

P Viewed most charitab by this might be congidered a question of fact that Texas will have an opportunity to prove
by evidence, but it iz not a grovmd for disnmssal ag a matter of law.

" Under Texas’ theory, virtually any voting restriction, inchiding a poll tax, would not deny or abridge the right to
vote of anyone who iz technically ““capable™ of conpling,

P Texas® argument also fails to address the case of citizens who are not “capable™ of complying with SB 14, for
exanple byreason ofthe lack ofa bath certificate.
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Takushi, 504 U.S. 428 (1992). No racial dizscrimination challenge was before the Court m
Crawford, and nothmg in the Cowrt’s decizion suggested that photo 1dentification laws are
exempt — categorically or otherwise — from racial decrimmation challenges under the Voting
Rights Act or the Constitution'® Crenyford means simply that photo ID laws are not
uncongstitutional per se, m the same way that at-large (7 e., multi-member district) elections are
not unconstitutional per se, but may still be challenged if they are racially discriminatory. See
Rogers v. Lodge, 458 U.S. 613, 617 (1982) (cting Whitcomb v. Chavis, 403 U.S. 124 (1971),
Thornburgv. Gingles, 478 U.S. 30).

C. The Section 2 Results Standard Is Constitutional

Ignormg the fact that courts have never questioned the constitutionality of Section 2°s
“results” standard, Texas asserts that “[a iy construction of the Voting Rights Act that precludes
Texas from mplementing its voter-identification law will exceed Congress” enforcement power
under section 2 of'the Frfteenth Amendment.” (Texas Br. 26.) To the contrary, Section 2
dwectly erforces the Frfteenth Amendment. See LULAC, Couneil No. 4434 v. Clements, 986
F.2d 728, 759 (5th Cm. 1993) (“[I]t 1= clear that, when Congress amended Section 2, it was acting
pursuant to its enforcement powers under the Fowrteenth and Fifteenth Amendments.”)

Agam, Texas” argument 12 built on the straw aszertion that Plamtff: rely solely on a “mere”
disparate mmpact theory. (Texas Br. 26-28.) As has already been shown, Congress established a
“totality of circumistances ™ test, which Plamtifts” Complaint easily meets here with allegations

substantially beyond “mere” disparate impact.

' It i seM-evident that the Supreme Court did not intend its decision in Crawford to insulate photo ID laws fiom
tederalreview. The Cowrt specifically left open the possibality that discrete classes of Indiana citizens who
encourter difficukies m complying with the photo ID law could bring as-applied fimdamental right to vote
challenges. See Crawford, 553 U.S. at 199.

12
N
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Texas ako argues that Congress was required to state its prolubitions m “clear and
exphctt language and justify this prophylaxis with legislative findings.” (Texas Br. 27.) But
Congress did make mumerous findings as to the necessity of adopting the results standard. See
1982 Senate Report. Texas cites no authonity for the proposition that Congress must address
every single type of votig practice that might be challenged under Section 2, and there ¥ none.

Finally, 1t 18 clear that Texas” broad proposition, that ““[t]he States also hold a
constitutionally protected prerogative to establish the qualifications for votmg m state and tederal
elections™ (Texas Br. 27) 12 prima facie overbroad. Fust, SB 14 does not establish
“qualifications™ for voting. It sets forth a protocol for dentitying those who have already met
the quahfications to vote. In any event, as Texas tacitly acknowledges m its ctation to cases
upholding prolubitions on literacy tests and poll taxes, the states” “prerogative” mregard to
voting qualifications (assummg arguendo that SB 14 speaks to “qualfications™) 1¢ coeuumscribed
by other constitutional strictures, notably the Fourteenth and Fifteenth Amendments.

D. The Complaint Adequatelv Pleads the Discriminatory Purpose Behind SB 14

Texas argues that the Complamt is deficient because nothing m 1t “‘comes anywhere close
to a plausible allegation that Senate Bill 14 15 a racist law.” (Texas Br. 28.) Setting aside Texas’
attempt to engage m nuiflhnunatory thetoric, the Complamt fully and adequately pleads the
dascriminatory purpose belund SB 14 m accordance with the senunal Supreme Cowrt case on this
wsve, Village of Arlington Heights v. Metropolitan Hous g Development Corp., 429 U.S. 252
(1977) — authority which Texas mexplicably ignores.

In Village of Arlington Heights, the Cowrt outlmed the analysi to detenmime whether

nwidious digernmmatory purpose was a motivating factor behmd officml action The “startmg

26
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pomt,” the Cowrt explained was “the impact of the official action,” ie., whether 1t “bears more
heavily on one race than another,” because “[s]ometmmes a clear pattern, tmexplamable on
grounds other than race, emerges from the effect of the state action even when the governing
legislation appears neutral on its face.” Arfmgton Heights, 429 U.S. at 266. Other, non-
exhaustive, factors meclude: the hustorical background of the decision, particularly if # reveals a
series of officml actions taken for mvidious purposes; the specific sequence of events leading up
to the challenged decision; departures from the normal procedural sequence which nught afford
evidence that improper purposes are phying a role; substantive departures, particularly it the
factors usually considered mmportant by the decision-maker strongly favor a decision contrary to
the one reached; and the legizlative or admunitrate history. 7d. at 267-68.

Plamtifts” Complaint makes detailed allegations regarding SB 14. These mclude: (1) the
lustory of dizcrummatory voting practices m Texas; (2) the Legislatire’s consideration of
progressively more stringent ID requirements alongside mounting concerns regarding their
mmpact on racial and ethnic minorities; (3 ) the wsual procedural techmiques used to rush SB 14
through the Legislature; (4) the pretextual arguments made m favor of SB 147 passage; (5) the
summary dismissal of munerous proposed amendments to SB 14 that might have ame horated its
discrimunatory impact; (6) the racially charged thetoric used by the supporters of SB 14 and (7)
the disparate impact of SB 14. Plaimntiflz” well-pleaded allegations, wholly ignored by Texas,
fully meet the Arlington Heights standard.

Rather than grappling with precedent vnifavorable to its argument, Texas makes a series
of mistaken or urelevant assertions. First, it argues that Plamtifts do not allege that “anyone”

will be umable to obtam the election identification certiticate free of charge. Infact, however, the
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Complamt details why the allegedly ““fiee” EIC 1z not fiee, because of the underlying costs m
obtammg it, such as the cost of obtanung a buth certificate, and the costs of travelmng to (and
miszimg work m order to travel to) faciltties that provide the EIC. (Compl 9§ 15, 45.) The
Complamt alleges that Latmos and Afiican Americans, who make up a disproportionate portion
of Texas” poor, are likely not to be able to obtam the EIC as readily ag are white voters. (Compl
97 41-46.) Second, Texas retiuns to Crawford for the proposition that voter-identification laws
are legitimate fraud-prevention devices. But, agaimn, the Cowt m Crenvford did not have before it
Texas” much more strmngent photo ID law, and did not conzider the specific facts alleged 1 the
Complamt, and, of cownse, did not consider racial discrinumation at all because Crawford was not
a cage m which racial discrimination was alleged.
IV.  PLAINTIFFS PROPERLY NAMED STEVE MCCRAW AS A DEFENDANT
Steve McCraw, the Drector of the Department of Public Safety, i has official capacity,
15 responsible for admmistermg the agency that 1ssues al/ of the forms of Texas ID that are
allowable under SB 14, mchiding drwver’s hicenzes, non-driver identification cards, licenses to
carry a concealed hand gun, and EICs. As such, the mpmnction requested i the Complamt
agamnst enforcmg SB 14 necesgarily would sue agamst him, as well as agamst the State’s cluef

election officer, the Secretary of State.
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CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth above, Plamtiff: respectfully request that the Cowt deny Texas’

motion to dismuss the Complamt.
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